No. 73904-2-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CLIFTON EUGENE TURNER,

Appellant.

FILED
Jun 03, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MAUREEN M. CYR
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court abused its discretion in refusing to require the State to present expert testimony regarding post traumatic stress disorder (PTSD).

2. The trial court erred in requiring Turner to engage in substance abuse treatment and submit to related monitoring conditions while on community custody.

3. If the State substantially prevails, this Court should decline to award appellate costs due to Turner's inability to pay.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Expert testimony is necessary where the question to be decided involves scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge. Washington courts recognize that PTSD is a mental disorder that is beyond the ordinary understanding of laypersons. Here, the State presented evidence that the complaining witness suffered symptoms of PTSD as a result of the alleged crime, for the purpose of proving the crime occurred, but did not present expert testimony to explain how the alleged crime could have led to those symptoms. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in admitting evidence of PTSD symptoms in the absence of expert testimony to explain these symptoms to the jury?

2. A trial court may not require an offender to engage in drug or alcohol treatment as a condition of community custody unless the record shows the offender's use of drugs or alcohol contributed to the crime. Here there is absolutely no evidence that Turner's use of drugs or alcohol contributed to the crime. Yet the court imposed conditions of community custody requiring him to engage in drug and alcohol treatment and submit to related monitoring conditions. Must the conditions be stricken as not crime-related?

3. Where Turner is indigent and unable to pay legal financial obligations, should this Court deny appellate costs if the State substantially prevails?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Clifton Turner is a 61-year-old man who is a counselor and case manager for Compass Housing Alliance, providing services for the homeless. 6/24/15RP 343. He has been clean and sober since June 7, 2006. 6/24/15RP 344. He is active in recovery and goes to AA/NA meetings every week. RP 6/24/15344. He reads recovery books every day and takes his recovery very seriously. 6/24/15RP 345.

Turner met Lisa Leavitt while they were both in inpatient treatment for drug and alcohol abuse. 6/24/15RP 347. The two

became romantic and eventually started living together in an apartment in Mountlake Terrace. 6/24/15RP 349. They agreed to have no drugs or alcohol on the premises. 6/23/15RP 70; 6/24/15RP 351.

Leavitt has a daughter named M.L. 6/23/15RP 64. M.L. lived with her Aunt Denise but would visit her mother and Turner at their Mountlake Terrace apartment about every other weekend. 6/23/15RP 64-65. M.L. liked Turner and they got along well. 6/23/15RP 65. He made her mother happy. 6/23/15RP 63. When M.L. visited, they would go places as a family and do fun things together. 6/23/15RP 63.

At some point, M.L. told her sister Ashlee that Turner had showed her his “private parts.” 6/23/15RP 95. She then told her Aunt Denise. 6/23/15RP 98. M.L.’s mother and sister took her to the police station, where she told a detective that Turner had inserted his fingers into her vagina, touched her vaginal area outside her clothing, and showed her his penis. 6/23/15RP 100.

Turner was charged with three counts of second degree child molestation and two counts of second degree rape of a child. CP 136-37.

At trial, it became apparent that M.L.’s allegations were inconsistent and had changed over time. M.L. told the police it was

painful when Turner inserted his fingers into her vagina, but later at trial she admitted it was never painful. 6/23/15RP 76-77. She told the police it was painful so that they would take her story seriously.

6/23/15RP 77. At trial, M.L. said Turner made her put her mouth on his penis three times, but earlier she had told the defense investigator that happened only one time. 6/23/15RP 85-84. At trial, M.L. said the incidents happened during the daytime, usually while she and Turner were wrestling. 6/23/15RP 71, 77, 80-82, 86. But earlier, M.L. had told her cousin Brandon that Turner sexually assaulted her while she was lying in bed at night. 6/23/15RP 258. Finally, M.L.'s statements about how many times the incidents occurred changed markedly over time. 6/23/15RP 142-43.

In response to questioning by the prosecutor, M.L. said that during her sophomore year in high school, she started skipping school, doing drugs, and drinking alcohol. 6/23/15RP 113.

Outside the presence of the jury, defense counsel objected, arguing the State could not present evidence that M.L. suffered from symptoms of PTSD unless the State presented expert testimony to tie M.L.'s symptoms to the allegations of abuse. 6/23/15RP 114-15. After all, M.L. did not start experiencing those symptoms until at least a year

and a half after the alleged abuse had stopped. 6/23/15RP 115.

Counsel argued a layperson could not testify that M.L.'s troubling behavior, especially when it occurred so long after the fact, was connected to sexual abuse. 6/23/15RP 114.

The court overruled the objection. 6/23/15RP 117. The court ruled M.L. could testify about her feelings and behavior, as long as the prosecutor did not ask questions that would lead to a medical conclusion. 6/23/15RP 117.

Thus, M.L. testified that, at the beginning of her sophomore year, she began engaging in troubling behavior. She quit playing softball. 6/23/15RP 118. She started using marijuana and drinking alcohol every day. Before that, she had used marijuana only occasionally and did not drink. 6/23/15RP 119, 175. She became depressed and suicidal and was admitted to the hospital a couple of times for suicidal ideation. 6/23/15RP 119-20. She started burning and cutting herself. 6/23/15RP 120.

M.L.'s Aunt Denise also testified that after M.L. disclosed allegations of sexual abuse, she started skipping school, drinking alcohol, and smoking marijuana. 6/24/15RP 304-05. She used to have a lot of friends but no longer does. 6/24/15RP 304. She started cutting

her arms, pulling her hair out, and saying that she wanted to kill herself.

6/24/15RP 304.

No expert testimony was presented to explain why or how these symptoms could have been caused by sexual abuse.

All of the witnesses who spent time with Turner said they never saw him drink or use drugs. M.L. said Turner was sober when she knew him; she never saw him not sober. 6/23/15RP 62, 178. She confirmed that he was serious about recovery and spent a lot of time reading the Bible and recovery materials, and talking and thinking about recovery. 6/23/15RP 123-24, 178. Her sister Ashlee also said she never knew Turner to relapse or use drugs or alcohol. 6/23/15RP 227-28.

Turner testified at trial and denied the allegations. He said he started wrestling with M.L. because Leavitt asked him to. 6/24/15RP 368 M.L. was being bullied at school and Leavitt wanted her to learn how to defend herself. 6/24/15RP 368. Turner taught M.L. defensive moves and techniques. 6/24/15RP 369. Turner loves Leavitt and her daughters and cannot understand why they made these allegations. 6/24/15RP 380.

The jury found Turner guilty as charged of two counts of second degree child molestation and guilty of one count of the lesser-included offense of fourth degree assault. CP 72-73, 77, 79. The jury found him not guilty of two counts of second degree rape of a child. CP 74-75.

At sentencing, the court imposed 36 months of community custody. CP 31. As conditions of community custody, the court ordered Turner to participate in substance abuse treatment and submit to related monitoring conditions. CP 42.

D. ARGUMENT

- 1. The trial court abused its discretion in admitting evidence of M.L.'s symptoms of PTSD in the absence of expert testimony to explain the nexus between the alleged symptoms and the allegations of sexual abuse.**

M.L. and her Aunt Denise testified M.L. started exhibiting troubling behaviors long after the alleged incidents of sexual abuse had stopped. M.L. started skipping school, doing drugs, and drinking alcohol in her sophomore year of high school. 6/23/15RP 113. She lost friends. 6/24/15RP 304. She became depressed and suicidal. 6/23/15RP 119-20; 6/24/15RP 304. She started burning and cutting herself. 6/23/15RP 120. These behaviors were uncharacteristic of her. 6/23/15RP 119, 175.

The State presented this evidence of M.L.'s downward spiral as proof of the underlying allegations of sexual abuse. 6/23/15RP 115-16. Yet the State did not present any expert testimony to explain how or why a person could start experiencing such symptoms of PTSD so long after the alleged traumatic event had ended. PTSD is a mental disorder that is beyond the understanding of an ordinary layperson. Expert testimony was therefore necessary to explain M.L.'s symptoms and establish any nexus between them and the underlying allegations of abuse. The court abused its discretion in refusing to require the State to present expert testimony regarding M.L.'s purported mental disorder.

A lay witness may not express an opinion as to matters that are beyond the realm of common experience and that require the special skill and knowledge of an expert witness. Randolph v. Collectramatic, Inc., 590 F.2d 844, 846-47 (10th Cir. 1979). “[W]here the Topic requires special experience, only the testimony of a person of that special experience will be received.” Id. (citation omitted).

Thus, if a party wishes to present evidence regarding matters outside the realm of common experience, it must do so through the testimony of an expert. Under ER 702, expert testimony is admissible “[i]f scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the

trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue.”

ER 702. Expert testimony is admissible under ER 702 if it will be helpful to the jury in understanding matters outside the competence of ordinary lay persons. State v. Green, 182 Wn. App. 133, 146, 328 P.3d 988, review denied, 337 P.3d 325 (2014).

The trial court’s decision to admit or exclude expert testimony is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Id.

Washington courts recognize that mental disorders—specifically PTSD—are beyond the understanding of ordinary lay persons. Id. at 146-47 (citing State v. Janes, 121 Wn.2d 220, 236, 850 P.2d 495 (1993); State v. Ciskie, 110 Wn.2d 263, 273-74, 751 P.2d 1165 (1988); State v. Allery, 101 Wn.2d 591, 597, 682 P.2d 312 (1984); State v. Bottrell, 103 Wn. App. 706, 717, 14 P.3d 164 (2000)).

Washington case law also acknowledges that PTSD is a mental disorder recognized within the scientific and psychiatric communities.

Bottrell, 103 Wn. App. at 717. According to the American Psychiatric Association, the essential feature of PTSD is

“the development of characteristic symptoms following exposure to an extreme traumatic stressor involving direct personal experience of an event that involves actual or threatened death or serious injury, or other threat to one’s physical integrity; or witnessing an event that involves death, injury, or a threat to the physical

integrity of another person; or learning about unexpected or violent death, serious harm, or threat of death or injury experienced by a family member or other close associate.”

American Psychiatric Association, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 424 (4th ed.1994) (quoted in Bottrell, 103 Wn. App. at 717).

Because PTSD is a recognized mental disorder that is beyond the understanding of ordinary laypersons, when the State presents evidence of PTSD to prove the elements of a crime, the State must also present expert testimony to explain the disorder to the jury and elucidate how it is related to the crime. ER 702; Green, 182 Wn. App. at 146; Bottrell, 103 Wn. App. at 717; Randolph, 590 F.2d at 846-47.

Here, the State presented extensive testimony of M.L.’s purported symptoms of PTSD as evidence to prove that the alleged abuse actually occurred. But the trial court did not require the State to present expert testimony to explain any nexus between M.L.’s purported symptoms and the alleged offenses. As ordinary lay people, the jurors were not capable of understanding how or why a person might experience symptoms of PTSD long after the underlying trauma had ended. The trial court’s ruling refusing to require the State to provide an expert to explain this mental disorder to the jury and how it

related to the crime is contrary to the above authorities. The court therefore abused its discretion.

The court's error in refusing to require expert testimony was not harmless. Evidentiary errors require reversal if, "within reasonable probabilities, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected had the error not occurred." State v. Thomas, 35 Wn. App. 598, 609, 668 P.2d 1294 (1983).

The court's error was harmful because the jury was allowed to speculate, without the assistance of an expert, that M.L.'s troubling behaviors and downward spiral must have been the result of sexual abuse. This significantly bolstered the State's case. The evidence of sexual abuse was otherwise equivocal. The only other evidence offered to prove sexual contact were M.L.'s statements. But those statements were incomplete, inconsistent, and changed over time. 6/23/15RP 71, 76-77, 80-86, 142-43, 258.

The jury plainly had difficulty believing M.L.'s testimony. This is demonstrated by the jury's decision to acquit Turner of two charges of rape of a child and convict him of the lesser-included offense of fourth degree assault for one of the child molestation charges. CP 72-75, 77, 79. Had the jury not heard the evidence of PTSD, it very well

might have acquitted Turner of all of the charges. Because the error in refusing to require expert testimony was not harmless, the convictions must be reversed.

2. The court erred in requiring Turner to engage in drug and alcohol treatment and submit to monitoring conditions while on community custody because there is no evidence that Turner’s use of drugs or alcohol contributed to the offense.

A trial court’s authority to impose sentencing conditions is derived wholly from statute. In re Pers. Restraint of Carle, 93 Wn.2d 31, 33, 604 P.2d 1293 (1980). This Court reviews de novo whether the trial court had statutory authority to impose a challenged condition of community custody. State v. Armendariz, 160 Wn.2d 106, 110, 156 P.3d 201 (2007).

Turner may challenge the erroneous sentencing conditions for the first time on appeal. State v. Bahl, 164 Wn.2d 739, 744, 193 P.3d 678 (2008).

The Sentencing Reform Act generally authorizes a trial court to impose prohibitions or affirmative conditions of community custody only if they are “crime-related.” RCW 9.94A.505(9); State v. Brooks, 142 Wn. App. 842, 850, 176 P.3d 549 (2008). A “crime-related”

condition is one that “directly relates to the circumstances of the crime for which the offender has been convicted.” RCW 9.94A.030(10).

A condition of community custody requiring the offender to participate in alcohol or drug counseling must be “crime-related.” RCW 9.94A.703(3); State v. Jones, 118 Wn. App. 199, 207-08, 76 P.3d 258 (2003); State v. Parramore, 53 Wn. App. 527, 529, 768 P.2d 530 (1989). To justify such a condition, the evidence must show and the court must find that alcohol or drugs contributed to the crime. Jones, 118 Wn. App. at 203, 208. Alcohol or drug counseling “‘reasonably relates’ to the offender’s risk of reoffending, and to the safety of the community, only if the evidence shows that alcohol [or drugs] contributed to the offense.” Id. at 208.

The philosophy underlying the “crime-related” provision is that offenders may be punished for their crimes and may be prohibited from doing things that are directly related to their crimes, but they may not be coerced into doing things that are believed to rehabilitate them. State v. Riley, 121 Wn.2d 22, 36-37, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993); David Boerner, Sentencing in Washington, §4.5, at 4-7 (1985).

Here, the court imposed conditions of community custody requiring Turner to engage in drug and alcohol treatment and submit to

related monitoring conditions. The court imposed a condition requiring Turner to “[p]articipate in substance abuse treatment as directed by the supervising Community Corrections Officer.” CP 42. The court also imposed a condition requiring Turner to “[p]articipate in urinalysis, Breathalyzer, and polygraph examinations as directed by the supervising Community Corrections Officer, to monitor compliance with conditions of community custody.” CP 42.

The court exceeded its statutory authority in imposing these conditions because there was absolutely no evidence to show that Turner’s use of drugs or alcohol contributed to the offense. In fact, the opposite is true. All of the evidence presented on the question shows unequivocally that Turner did not use alcohol or drugs during the relevant time period. Turner was active in recovery and had been sober since June 2006. 6/24/15RP 344-45. Both M.L. and her sister Ashlee agreed they never saw Turner use drugs or alcohol or waiver from his commitment to sobriety. 6/23/15RP 62, 123-34, 178, 227-28.

Because the conditions requiring Turner to participate in substance abuse treatment and comply with related monitoring conditions are not crime-related, they must be stricken. Jones, 118 Wn. App. at 203, 208.

3. Any request that costs be imposed on Turner for this appeal should be denied because he does not have the present or likely future ability to pay them.

This Court has broad discretion to disallow an award of appellate costs if the State substantially prevails on appeal. RCW 10.73.160(1); State v. Nolan, 141 Wn.2d 620, 626, 8 P.3d 300 (2000); State v. Sinclair, 192 Wn. App. 380, 388, 367 P.3d 612 (2016); RCW 10.73.160(1). An offender's inability to pay is an important consideration to take into account in deciding whether to disallow costs. Sinclair, 192 Wn. App. at 389.

Turner does not have a realistic ability to pay appellate costs. At sentencing, the court found Turner was indigent and imposed only those LFOs it deemed mandatory. 8/21/15RP 28; CP 33.

The court also entered an order authorizing Turner to seek review at public expense and appointing public counsel on appeal. As the Court noted in Sinclair, RAP 15.2(f) requires that a party who has been granted such an order of indigency is required to notify the trial court of any significant improvement in financial condition. Sinclair, 192 Wn. App. at 393. Otherwise, the indigent party is entitled to the benefits of the order of indigency throughout the review process. Id.;

RAP 15.2(f). There is no trial court record showing Turner's financial condition has improved.

Nor is Turner's financial situation likely to improve to the point where he will be able to pay appellate costs. Turner was convicted of two counts of second degree child molestation and received a sentence of 53 months in prison. CP 27-42. Upon his release, he will be subject to 36 months of community custody and will be required to register as a sex offender. Id. At the time of trial, Turner was 61 years old.

6/24/15RP 343.

Due to these circumstances, “[t]here is no realistic possibility that [Turner] will be released from prison in a position to find gainful employment that will allow him to pay appellate costs.” Sinclair, 192 Wn. App. at 393.

Imposing appellate costs on Turner would significantly reduce any possibility of his re-entering society successfully. Id. at 391; see also State v. Blazina, 182 Wn.2d 827, 344 P.3d 680 (2015). Because Turner is indigent and unlikely ever to be able to pay appellate costs, this Court should exercise its discretion and decline to award costs if the State substantially prevails on appeal.

E. CONCLUSION

The trial court abused its discretion in refusing to require the State to present expert testimony to support its position that M.L. suffered symptoms of PTSD as a result of the alleged sexual abuse. The convictions must therefore be reversed. In the alternative, this Court should strike the conditions of community custody requiring Turner to engage in substance abuse treatment and submit to related monitoring conditions because they are not crime-related.