73904-2

# 73904-2

NO. 73904-2-I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

CLIFTON E. TURNER,

FILED Sep 19, 2016 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

Appellant.

### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

SETH A. FINE Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

# **

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

#### III. ARGUMENT

### A. ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF THE VICTIM'S BEHAVIOR CHANGES WAS NOT PREJUDICIAL ERROR.

1. A Court Can Properly Admit Lay Testimony Concerning Trauma Suffered By The Victim Of A Sexual Offense.

The defendant raises only one challenge to his conviction. He claims that evidence of the victim's behavioral problems were inadmissible without expert testimony. Contrary to his position, the Supreme Court has upheld lay testimony concerning a rape victim's trauma. <u>State v. Black</u>, 109 Wn.2d 336, 349, 745 P.2d 12 (1987).

In <u>Black</u>, the State offered expert testimony that the victim's behavior fit "a specific profile for rape victims." The Supreme Court held that "expert testimony on rape trauma syndrome is not a scientifically reliable means of proving lack of consent." <u>Id.</u> at 348. This does not, however, preclude the trier of fact from drawing inferences from a rape victim's trauma:

We do not imply, of course, that evidence of emotional or psychological trauma suffered by a

complainant after an alleged rape is inadmissible in a rape prosecution. The State is free to offer lay testimony on these matters, and the jury is free to evaluate it as it would any other evidence.

<u>Id.</u> at 349. That is exactly what occurred in this case. The State offered lay testimony on the victim's trauma. The jury was free to consider it for whatever probative value it had.

The defendant claims that evidence of a mental disorder requires expert testimony. Here, however, the State did not offer evidence of any mental disorder. It simply offered evidence that the victim's behavior had changed following the crimes. The idea that stressful events may cause behavioral changes is not beyond common understanding. The trial court properly admitted that evidence.

## 2. Since The Defendant Was Successful In Showing Other Explanations For The Victim's Behavior Changes, There Is No Reasonable Probability That Admission Of This Evidence Affected The Outcome Of The Trial.

Even if the evidence should have been excluded, any error was harmless. There is no claim that any error is constitutional in nature. Consequently, harmlessness is assessed under the standard for non-constitutional errors. Under that standard, the question is "whether, within reasonable probabilities, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected had the error not occurred." <u>State v. Gresham</u>, 173 Wn.2d 405, 433 ¶ 42, 269 P.3d 207 (2012).

Here, the defense was very successful in neutralizing the evidence. There was evidence of numerous other traumatic events in the victim's life. These included observing domestic violence, being physically abused, being robbed, being attacked or hurt badly, and observing others being attacked or hurt badly. 6/23 RP 175-76. Any of these events could have been the cause of the behavioral changes.

At the end of the case, the prosecutor did not even mention this evidence in her initial closing argument. 4 RP 401-409. She mentioned it briefly in rebuttal, in specific response to points raised by defense counsel. 4 RP 418, 432. This treatment of the evidence indicates its minor significance in the case as a whole.

The evidence of behavioral problems was a small part of this trial. The defense succeeded in minimizing its probative value. There is no reason to believe that the outcome of the case would have been different if this evidence were excluded. Any error in admitting the evidence was therefore harmless.

# B. THE SENTENCING CONDITIONS IMPOSED BY THE TRIAL COURT WERE PROPER.

1. A Court Can Properly Require A Defendant To Participate In Rehabilitative Programs That Are Reasonably Related To The Risk Of Reoffending Or The Safety Of The Community.

In addition to challenging the convictions, the defendant challenges two of the conditions of community custody. He first challenges the requirement that he "[p]articipate in substance abuse treatment." CP 42, condition no. 15. Despite contrary authority from this court, this condition was proper under clear statutory language.

RCW 9.94A.703(3)(d) gives sentencing courts power to require defendants to "[p]articipate in rehabilitative programs or otherwise perform affirmative conduct reasonably related to the circumstances of the offense, the offender's risk of reoffending, or the safety of the community." Here, the record shows that the defendant had a long-standing drug and alcohol abuse problem. His own testimony showed the amount of effort that he devoted to preventing a relapse of these problems. He testified that he attended three N.A. or A.A. meeting a week. He spent at least an hour every day reading self-help and recovery texts. 3 RP 344-45. He believed that living with a drug user would "put my life in jeopardy." 3 RP 350. Given the constant focus needed to maintain

the defendant's sobriety, the court could properly conclude that continued treatment was "reasonably related to ... the offender's risk of reoffending [and] the safety of the community."

This court has nonetheless interpreted RCW 9.94A.703(3)(d) as limited to rehabilitative programs that are related to the circumstances of the offense. The court reasoned that any other interpretation would render superfluous RCW 9.94A.703(3)(c), which allows a court to require the defendant to "participate in crime-related treatment or counseling services." <u>State v. Jones</u>, 118 Wn. App. 199, 209-10, 76 P.3d 258 (2003); <u>see State v. Munoz-Rivera</u>, 190 Wn. App. 870, 891-92 ¶¶ 41-43, 361 P.3d 182 (2015). In this case, the record shows that the defendant was not using drugs or alcohol at the time of the crimes. As a result, treatment requirements were *not* "reasonably related to the circumstances of the offense." Under the reasoning of <u>Jones</u> and <u>Munoz-Rivera</u>, those requirements were therefore improper.

This court should, however, reject those cases, because they disregard the clear language of RCW 9.94A.703(3)(d). "If a statute is clear on its face, its meaning is to be derived from the plain language of the statute alone."

We have consistently held that an unambiguous statute is not subject to judicial construction and have declined to insert words into a statute where the language, taken as a whole, is clear and unambiguous. We will not add to or subtract from the clear language of a statute even if we believe the Legislature intended something else but did not adequately express it unless the addition or subtraction of language is imperatively required to make the statute rational. We will avoid a literal reading of a statute if it would result in unlikely, absurd, or strained consequences.

The court will resort to maxims of statutory construction only if the statute is ambiguous. <u>State v. Watson</u>, 146 Wn.2d 947, 954-55, 51 P.3d 66 (2002) (footnotes omitted).

RCW 9.94A.703(3)(d) is clear on its face. It unambiguously allows courts to require participation in rehabilitative programs that are reasonably related to "the offender's risk of reoffending, or the safety of the community," *in addition to* those that are "reasonably related to the circumstances of the offense." There is nothing unlikely, absurd, or strained about giving trial courts broad discretion to protect the community. Consequently, there is no justification for "interpreting" the statute to effectively delete the references to "the offender's risk of reoffending" and "the safety of the community."

It is true that this statutory authority is broader than the authority to require "crime-related treatment or counseling," thereby rendering the latter provision largely superfluous. If the statute were ambiguous, the court would properly interpret it so as to render no portion superfluous. See Whatcom County v. City of Bellingham, 128 Wn.2d 537, 546, 909 P.2d 1303 (1996). Jones and Munoz-Rivera, however, do not interpret the statute in this manner. Those cases do eliminate one possible superfluity, by giving meaning to the reference to "crime-relate treatment or counseling." In doing so, however, they create another one – by denying any meaning to the reference to programs that are related to "the offender's risk of reoffending, or the safety of the community." Since there is no available interpretation that prevents any statutory provision from being superfluous, this maxim of statutory construction is useless in this case.

In any event, the maxim has no place in construing an unambiguous statute. RCW 9.4A.703(c) and (d) are unambiguous, albeit somewhat redundant. This court cannot delete language from (3)(d) under the guise of "interpretation." Because the condition imposed by the court is reasonably related to the risk of re-offense and the safety of the community, it is proper.

2. Even If The Treatment Condition Was Improper, The Court Could Properly Monitor Compliance With Other Conditions By Requiring The Defendant To Participate In Urinalysis And Polygraph Examinations.

The defendant also challenges the requirement that he participate in urinalysis, Breathalyzer, and polygraph examinations to monitor compliance with conditions of community custody. CP 42, condition no. 16. A sentencing court has the authority to require an offender to submit to tests that monitor compliance with the conditions of community custody. <u>State v. Riles</u>, 135 Wn.2d 326, 341-42, 957 P.2d 655 (1998). The defendant claims that because the treatment conditions were properly imposed, the related monitoring conditions were likewise improper. As discussed above, the treatment requirements were proper, so the monitoring requirements were equally proper.

Even if this court strikes the treatment condition, however, two out of the three monitoring requirements were proper. Polygraph examinations could monitor compliance with numerous conditions that were properly imposed. <u>See Riles</u>, 135 Wn.2d at 342 (upholding polygraph testing as a monitoring condition). Urinalysis could detect the defendant's use of illegal drugs. Such use would be a violation of the requirement that the defendant obey

all laws. CP 41, condition no. 3. Such a condition is proper. <u>Jones</u>, 118 Wn. App. at 205.

The only remaining monitoring condition is Breathalyzer testing. Such a test would only detect alcohol use. The court could have required the defendant to refrain from consuming alcohol. RCW 9.94A.703(e)(3); Jones, 118 Wn. App. at 207. It did not, however, impose such a requirement. Consequently, Breathalyzer testing would only be relevant to monitoring the defendant's compliance with substance abuse treatment. If the treatment requirement is invalid, the Breathalyzer requirement is likewise invalid.

## C. NOTHING IN THIS CASE RENDERS IT INEQUITABLE FOR THE DEFENADNT TO PAY COSTS IF HIS APPEAL IS UNSUCCESSFUL.

Finally, the defendant asks this court not to impose costs if the State substantially prevails on this appeal. Under RCW 10.73.160(1), this court "may require an adult offender convicted of an offense to pay appellate costs." As this court has recognized, the statute gives this court discretion concerning as to the award of costs. <u>State v. Sinclair</u>, 192 Wn. App. 380, 367 P.3d 612 (2016); <u>see State v. Nolan</u>, 141 Wn.2d 620, 8 P.3d 300 (2000). The defendant claims that because the trial court found him to be

indigent, costs should presumptively be denied. This argument ignores both the language and the history of RCW 10.73.160.

To begin with, RCW 10.73.160 expressly applies to indigent persons. The title of the enacting law is "An Act Relating to indigent persons." Laws of 1995, ch. 275. RCW 10.73.160(3) provides for "recoupment of fees for court-appointed counsel." Counsel is ordinarily appointed only for indigent persons. RCW 10.73.150. If the statute does not ordinarily apply to indigent persons, then it ordinarily does not apply at all.

Second, the statute adopts existing procedures. "Costs ... shall be requested in accordance with the procedures contained in Title 14 of the rules of appellate procedure." RCW 10.73.160(3). "In the absence of an indication from the Legislature that it intended to overrule the common law, new legislation will be presumed to be in line with prior judicial decisions in a field of law." <u>Glass v. Stahl</u> <u>Specialty Co.</u>, 97 Wn.2d 880, 887-88, 652 P.2d 948 (1982). RCW 10.73.160 should therefore be construed as incorporating existing procedures relating to appellate costs.

Prior to 1995, the rules governing appellate costs in criminal cases were the same as those applied in civil cases. <u>See State v.</u> <u>Keeney</u>, 112 Wn.2d 140, 141-42, 112 P.2d 140, 769 P.2d 295

(1989). In civil cases, the rule was that "[u]nder normal circumstances, the prevailing party on appeal would recover appeal costs." <u>Pilch v. Hendrix</u>, 22 Wn. App. 531, 534 P.2d 824 (1979). The appellate court nonetheless had discretion to deny costs.

Three cases provide examples of circumstances under which costs can be denied. In one, the court decided the merits of a moot case. It refused to award costs because "this appeal was retained and decided, not for any benefit which either of the parties would receive in consequence of the decision, but for the public interest involved." <u>National Electrical Contractors Assoc. v. Seattle</u> <u>School Dist. No. 1</u>, 66 Wn.2d 14, 23, 400 P.2d 778 (1965);

In a second case, the plaintiffs brought suit to resolve issues arising from the anticipated dissolution of a water district. The trial court rendered judgment for the defendants. On appeal, the Supreme Court reversed that judgment because the action was brought prematurely. The court nonetheless refused to award costs: "While appellants prevail, in that the judgment appealed from is set aside, they are responsible for the bringing of the premature action and will not be permitted to recover costs on this appeal." <u>Water Dist. No. 111 v. Moore</u>, 65 Wn. App. 392, 393, 397 P.2d 845 (1964).

A third example is the recent decision of this court in <u>General</u> <u>Construction Co. v. P.U.D. No. 2</u>, no. 32305-6-III, 2016 WL 4578106 (9/1/16). There, the court found that "both sides have contributed to the excessive litigation." The court therefore exercised its discretion to deny costs on appeal. <u>Id.</u> n. 2.

As these cases illustrate, appellate courts have discretion to deny costs if some unusual circumstance renders an award inequitable. The circumstances that the court considers are those connected with the issues raised in the appeal. They have nothing to do with the parties' financial circumstances.

This analysis makes practical sense. The appellate court knows what issues were considered, how they were raised, and how they were argued. It ordinarily has very little information about the parties' financial circumstances. Gaining such information requires factual inquiries which the court is poorly positioned to conduct. As the Supreme Court has recognized, "it is nearly impossible to predict ability to pay over a period of 10 years or longer." <u>State v. Blank</u>, 131 Wn.2d 230, 242, 930 P.2d 1213 (1997). Litigating such issues is likely to increase the length and expense of the appeal. This court should therefore decide the issue of costs based on the appellate record rather than on suppositions.

This analysis is also consistent with long-standing practice under RCW 10.73.160. That statute was enacted in 1995. In 1997, the Supreme Court held that costs could be awarded under the statute without a prior determination of the defendant's ability to pay. <u>Blank</u>, 131 Wn.2d at 242. From then until 2015, this court routinely awarded appellate costs to the State when it prevailed in a criminal appeal. The Legislature has made no changes to the statute with regard to adult offenders.

"In interpreting a statute, we accord great weight to the contemporaneous construction placed upon it by officials charged with its enforcement, especially where the Legislature has silently acquiesced in that construction over a long period." In re Sehome Park Care Ctr., Inc., 127 Wn.2d 774, 780, 903 P.2d 443 (1995). For almost 20 years, this court and the Supreme Court construed RCW 10.73.160 as providing for the routine imposition of costs against indigent defendants. The Legislature has acquiesced in that decision. There is no reason for applying different standards now. If the Legislature believes that this results in an undue burden on adult defendants, it can amend the statute – just as it has done for juvenile offenders. See Laws of 2015, ch. 265, § 22 (eliminating

statutory authority for imposition of appellate costs against juvenile offenders).

In the present case, this analysis should lead the court to impose costs. The case presents a routine evidentiary issue. The defendant litigated the case for his own benefit, not for any public interest. With regard to the sentencing issue, the defendant did not raise an objection at sentencing, which could have rendered an appellate challenge unnecessary. Nothing in this case supports permanently shifting the costs of the defendant's appeal from the guilty defendant to the innocent taxpayers.

If this court focuses on the defendant's ability to pay, nothing in the record indicates that he is physically incapable of finding employment after his release. At sentencing, he raised no objection to paying \$25 a month towards his financial obligations. Sent RP 28.

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